
Legal & Governance Reform
DavidDavid  WilcockWilcock
HeadHead  ofof  LegalLegal  andand  GovernanceGovernance  ReformReform

Governance  & Committee Services
Floor 2, Number One Riverside, Smith Street,
Rochdale, OL16 1XU

Phone: 01706 647474
Website: www.rochdale.gov.uk

To:  All Members of the Rochdale Township 
Planning Sub Committee

Enquiries to: Michael Garraway
Telephone: 01706 924716
Date: Thursday 17th September 2015

Dear Councillor

Rochdale Township Planning Sub Committee

You are requested to attend the meeting of the Rochdale Township Planning Sub 
Committee to be held in Training and Conference Suite, First Floor, Number One 
Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU on Tuesday, 29th September 
2015 commencing at 6.15 pm.

The agenda and supporting papers are attached.

Please note that site visits have been arranged for Members of the 
Committee as follows: 
3.00 Meet Rochdale Town Hall
3.15 Former Woolworths site, Royle Barn Road, Castleton
3.30 26, Linnet Hill, Rochdale
3.45 9, Brooklands Court, Rochdale
4.00 Crimble Street, Rochdale (junction with Arthur Street)

There will be a Chair’s briefing at 5pm to which all Committee Members are 
encouraged to attend. 

If you require advice on any agenda item involving a possible Declaration of 
Interest which could affect your right to speak and/or vote, please refer to the 
Code of Conduct or contact the Monitoring Officer or Deputies or staff in the 
Governance and Committee Services Team at least 24 hours in advance of the 
meeting. 

Yours Faithfully

David Wilcock
Head of Legal and Governance Reform

Rochdale Township Planning Sub Committee Membership 2015/16
Councillor Iftikhar Ahmed Councillor Terry Linden
Councillor Shakil Ahmed Councillor Aasim Rashid
Councillor Lynne Brosnan Councillor Billy Sheerin
Councillor Ian Duckworth Councillor Shah Wazir
Councillor James Gartside



Rochdale Borough Council

ROCHDALE TOWNSHIP PLANNING SUB COMMITTEE

Tuesday, 29 September 2015 at 6.15 pm

Training and Conference Suite, First Floor, Number One Riverside, 
Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU

A G E N D A

Apologies for Absence
1.  Declarations of Interest 1 - 3

Members must indicate at this stage any items on the agenda in 
which they must declare an interest.  Members must verbally give 
notice of their interest at the meeting and complete the form attached 
with this agenda.  

Members are also advised to take advice with regard to any matter 
where there is potential bias or predetermination in any business to 
be considered at the meeting and whether they should take part in 
decision making at the meeting.

Members are reminded that, in accordance with the Localism Act 
2011 and the Council's adopted Code of Conduct, they must declare 
the nature of any discloseable pecuniary interest; personal interest 
and/or prejudicial interest required of them and, in the case of any 
discloseable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest, withdraw from 
the meeting during consideration of the item, unless permitted 
otherwise within the Code of Conduct.

2.  Submitted Planning Applications 4 - 49

3.  Planning Appeals 

i) Notification has been received that the following 
appeals have been lodged:

 15/00726/HH42 – 12 Stonehill Crescent
 15/00531/HOUS – 34 Wood Top Avenue
 14/01506/FUL – Land off Falinge Fold

ii) Notification has been received that the following 
appeals have been dismissed:

 15/00518/HOUS 5 Franklin Street
 15/00029/REF 13 Bittern Close

iii) Notification has been received that the following 
appeals have been

        allowed: 

    None







DECLARATION OF INTERESTS

IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CODE OF CONDUCT ADOPTED BY THE COUNCIL ON 25TH JULY 2012, MEMBERS ARE REQUIRED TO DECLARE DISCLOSABLE 
PECUNIARY INTERESTS, PERSONAL INTERESTS AND PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS (LISTED ON THEIR REGISTER OF INTERESTS).

MEMBERS SHOULD REFER TO THE CODE OF CONDUCT AND/OR THE MONITORING OFFICER AND/OR THEIR DECLARATION FOR FURTHER GUIDANCE

MEETING AND DATE

…………………………….

Agenda item

Indicate either
 Discloseable Pecuniary Interest OR
 Personal Interest OR
 Personal and Prejudicial interest

Nature of Interest

Signed…………………………………………………………………………………………        Please print name…………………………………………………………………………………………..

IF A MEMBER HAS A DISCLOSEABLE PECUNIARY INTEREST THAT HAS NOT BEEN INCLUDED ON THEIR REGISTER SUBMISSION, THEY ARE REQUIRED BY 
LAW TO UPDATE THEIR REGISTER ENTRY WITHIN 28 DAYS.  FAILURE TO PROVIDE PROPER NOTIFICATION IS A CRIMINAL OFFENCE.

THIS FORM, INCLUDING ‘NIL’ ENTRIES, MUST BE GIVEN TO THE GOVERNANCE AND COMMITTEE OFFICER NO LATER THAN AT THE END OF THE MEETING



Summary of discloseable pecuniary interests, personal interests and prejudicial interests.

Disclosable pecuniary interests
A ‘disclosable pecuniary interest’ is an interest of yourself, or of your partner if you are aware of your 
partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in the table below.  "Partner" means a spouse or civil 
partner, or a person with whom you are living as husband or wife, or a person with whom you are 
living as if you are civil partners.

Subject Description
Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vocation

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit 
or gain

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the 
Council) made or provided within the 12 month period prior to notification 
of the interest in respect of any expenses incurred by you in carrying out 
duties as a member, or towards your election expenses.  

Contracts Any contract made between you or your partner (or a body in which you or 
your partner has a beneficial interest) and the Council - 
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 
executed: and 
(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Rochdale 
Metropolitan Borough Council.

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of the 
Borough for a month or longer.

Corporate Tenancies Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) - 
(a) the landlord is the Council: and
(b) the tenant is a body in which you or your partner has a beneficial 
interest.

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where -
(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the 
area of the Borough; and
(b) either –
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which you or your partner 
has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that class.

Personal Interests
You have a personal interest in any business of the authority where it relates to or is likely to affect - 
(a) any body of which you are in a position of general control or management and to which you are 

appointed or nominated by your authority;
(b)  any body -

(i) exercising functions of a public nature;
(ii) directed to charitable purposes; or
(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy 

(including any political party or trade union), 
of which you are in a position of general control or management;
(c) the interests of any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated 

value of at least £25.

Prejudicial Interests
Where you have a personal interest you also have a prejudicial interest in that business where the 
interest is one which a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts would reasonably 
regard as so significant that it is likely to prejudice your judgement of the public interest and where 
that business -
(a) Affects your financial position or the financial position of a person or body described above; or
 (b) Relates to the determining of any approval, consent, licence, permission or registration in relation 

to you or any person or body described above.

MEMBERS ARE ADVISED TO REFER TO THE FULL DESCRIPTIONS CONTAINED IN THE
COUNCIL’S CODE OF CONDUCT ADOPTED ON 25TH JULY 2012.



Subject: Submitted Planning Applications Status:  For Publication

Report to:   Rochdale Township Planning 
Committee

Date:        29 September 2015 ^DS,DATEACTCOM.DCAPPL,21;   

Report of: Director of Economy and Environment

Author: See individual agenda reports

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 

1.1 To provide recommendations to the Committee on planning applications or related 
consents submitted to the Council and requiring the consideration and/or determination 
of the Committee in accordance with the Council’s approved Scheme of Delegation.

1.2 To provide information on any other planning or development related matters which 
may affect the work of the Committee.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 Recommendations in respect of individual planning applications are as detailed in the 
following papers.

3. STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS

3.1 The submitted applications on this agenda are to be determined in accordance with the 
provisions of relevant legislation, including the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, Planning and 
Compensation Act 1991, Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, Planning Act 
2008, Localism Act 2011 and the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 together with any Directions and 
Regulations which support that legislation.  

3.2 Planning law requires that applications be determined in accordance with the 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  Where relevant, 
any such material considerations will be referred to in the report.

    The Development Plan

3.3 All planning applications referred to in this report have been assessed against the 
relevant policies and proposals of the development plan for the Borough (currently the 
adopted Rochdale Unitary Development Plan 2006) and any Supplementary Planning 
Documents or Guidance adopted by the Council.  

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)



3.4 In addition, in assessing the submitted planning applications, there is a requirement to 
have regard to relevant national policies as set out within the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) the policies of which are a material consideration.  Where relevant, 
the provisions of the NPPF and any other relevant national guidance will be referred to 
in the report.

4. RISK ASSESSMENT IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 The Council has adopted a Code of Conduct for Members and Officers dealing with 
Planning Matters.  Members and Officers are required to have full regard to the Code 
in discharging their responsibilities and duties in relation to planning matters on behalf 
of the Council.  The Code seeks to ensure that all decision making is governed by an 
open and transparent process and represents a standard against which the conduct of 
Officers and Member sitting on the Committee will be judged.  

4.2 A Declaration of Member Interests Register is taken prior to the commencement of the 
Committee meeting.  Advice on whether any Member sitting on the Committee ought to 
declare any interest on any item on the submitted agenda should be obtained from the 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services or the Head of Planning.  

4.3 The Council’s Standards Committee will monitor the operation of this Code of Conduct.   

5. EQUALITIES IMPACTS

5.1 The above Acts require Local Planning Authorities to consider planning applications on 
their individual merits having regard to the development plan and other material 
planning considerations.

5.2 The Equality Act 2010 protects people from discrimination on the basis of certain 
characteristics which are known as protected characteristics.  These protected 
characteristics are Age, Disability, Gender Reassignment, Marriage or Civil 
Partnership, Pregnancy and Maternity, Race, Religion or Belief, Sex (Gender), Sexual 
Orientation, socio-economic status and Carer.

5.3 In applying the Equality Act 2010, the Council is required to consider the effects of its 
decisions on different groups protected from discrimination, including a duty to make 
reasonable adjustments.  In taking account of all material planning considerations, 
including Council policy as set out in the Unitary Development Plan and the National 
Planning Policy Framework, the Director (Economy and Environment) has concluded 
all opportunities to promote equality through the planning process have been taken, or 
where adjustments cannot be made, these are justified on the basis of the planning 
merits of the development proposal.  

5.4 The Rochdale and District Disabled Access Working Group may comment on relevant 
planning applications. Where comments are received, these will be included within the 
reported to Committee.  Consideration is given in designing access when dealing with 
the planning applications. Where applicable, any issues relating to these matters or 
other equal opportunity matters will be referred to in individual planning application 
reports.

6.      Human Rights Act 1998 considerations

6.1   The submitted applications need to be considered against the provisions of the Human 
Rights Act 1998.  Under Article 6, the applications (and those third parties, including 
local residents, who have made representations) have the right to a fair hearing and to 
this end the Committee must give full consideration to their comments.



6.2 Article 8 and Protocol 1 Article 1 confer(s) a right of respect or a person’s home, other 
land and business assets.  In taking account of all material considerations, including 
Council policy as set out in the Unitary Development Plan, the Director (Economy and 
Environment) has concluded that some rights conferred by these Articles on the 
applicant(s)/objectors/residents and other occupiers and owners of nearby land that 
might be affected may be interfered with but that that interference is in accordance with 
the law and justified by being in the public interest and on the basis of the planning 
merits of the development proposal.  He believes that any restriction on these rights 
posed by approval of the application is proportionate to the wider benefits of approval 
and that such a decision falls within the margin of discretion afforded to the Council 
under the Town and Country Planning Acts.

Background Papers

      The background papers relevant to the planning applications to be considered on this agenda 
will include:-

1.  The Planning application file and its contents which will include:

i)  The planning application form and supporting information, together with scaled 
drawings/plans and relevant statutory certificates.

ii) Letters of response from statutory and other consultees who may have been consulted 
or commented on the planning application

iii) Letters and documents received from interested parties.
iv) Notes of telephone conversations, meetings and any information received and of 

relevance to the submitted proposal
 

2. For any previous planning application referred to in the agenda report or in the application 
file, the planning application forms and the decision on that proposal

3. Such other papers (if any) received after the preparation of individual reports on planning 
applications on this agenda (to be reported verbally at the meeting).

       4. Any other guidance or procedural documents adopted by the Council and of relevance to 
the recommendation and/or determination of any submitted planning applications or related 
consents

For further information about this report, or if you wish to see any background
papers please contact: Sharon Hill, Senior Business Support Officer, in Economy and 
Environment, Number One Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU

Telephone (01706) 924305 or via the online planning services at: 
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/planning

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/planning


Application Number: 15/00619/OUT    Ward: Kingsway    
  

Proposal: Outline application (including access and layout) for the erection of 4 
dwellings

Site Address: Plot Of Land Bounded By Lockhart Street, King's Road, Royds Street 
And Sandfield Road, Rochdale    

Applicant: Mr John Kay
                  Oddplots Limited

RECOMMENDATION: Granted subject to conditions

DELEGATION SCHEME 
The application has been brought to Rochdale Township Planning Sub Committee in 
accordance with the Council’s Scheme of Delegation as four objections have been received 
and the Officer recommendation is to approve. The Committee may approve or refuse the 
application on reasonable planning grounds.  

SITE
The application site is a former garage site that is accessed via Lockhart Street and is situated 
to the rear of properties facing Lockhart Street, Kings Road, Sandfield Road and Royds Street. 
The site is triangular in shape and has a narrow vehicle access to the east, and although it has 
historically been used as a garage site, the buildings have been cleared and it is now vacant, 
unkempt and overgrown. Vehicular access to the site is currently prevented by a gate to the 
end of the site entrance however pedestrian access is unrestricted and there is evidence that 
anti-social behaviour takes place on the site.

Development surrounding the site is predominantly characterised by residential properties that 
comprise of Victorian era terraced houses and mid-20th century semi-detached properties. The 



site is set at a slightly higher level than those properties to the north of the site but is at a 
similar level to those to the east and west.  

PROPOSAL

The proposal is an outline application, for the erection of four dwellings on the site. It has been 
requested that access and layout be considered at this time with scale, appearance and 
landscaping left to be considered under future reserved matters application(s). 
The application indicates that the four properties would be set out as a single row of terraced 
houses that would be sited towards the west of the site and have an eastern facing frontage. 
In total the four properties would cover a width of approximately 25 metres and a maximum 
depth of approximately 10 metres. This would allow for a minimum rear garden depth of 11.0 
metres with further area of curtilage /landscaping to the side of the two end terrace properties.  
Two dedicated parking spaces per dwelling are shown to the front and side of the proposed 
terrace and one further space is shown for visitor parking. 

Access to the site would be via the existing access from Lockhart Street and this would widen 
to 6.0 metres inside the site, providing a shared surface between vehicles and pedestrians. 
The new road surface would also provide a waiting zone for exiting vehicles with a clear view 
of the access lane and priority given to those vehicles entering the site.  A shared bin store is 
also proposed adjacent to the access.

RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY

National Guidance

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

The Department for Communities and Local Government published the NPPF on 27 March 
2012.  The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and how these are 
expected to be applied.  

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

The government published its NPPG on 6 March 2014. This is intended to complement the 
NPPF and to provide a single resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and 
streamlining the material. Almost all previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been 
cancelled. Specific reference will be made to the NPPG or other national advice in the 
Analysis section of the report, where appropriate.

Unitary Development Plan (UDP): 

G/D/1              Defined Urban Area

G/H/1              Housing
H/3 Residential Developments Outside Allocated Areas
H/4 Backland Sites

G/BE/1            Design Quality
BE/2                Design Criteria for New Development

G/A/1 Accessibility
A/8 New Development – Capacity of the Highway Network
A/10 New Development – Provision of Parking

G/NE/5 Landscape and Woodlands 



NE/8 Development Affecting Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD):
Supplementary Planning Guidance note ‘Guidelines and Standards for Residential 
Development’.

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

08/D51044 – Erection of 14 garage units – Approved
10/D53535 – Erection of a block of 10 garages within existing garage site - Approved

CONSULTATION RESPONSES

GM Fire Service -  
The proposal should meet the requirements for Fire Service Access. 

Carey Robinson -  
No comments received to date  

Gtr Manchester Ecology Unit -  
No objection to the application on nature conservation grounds. The proposed development 
will have no impact on the special nature conservation interest of the Rochdale Canal SAC. 

Highways And Engineering - 

For a development of this size and nature at this location ample dedicated parking has been 
proposed.
No new access to the highway will be created by this development. An existing vehicular 
access point on Lockhart Street will be utilised to access the development. This access is 
however at its narrowest point 2388mm wide. The minimum width an access should be over 
short distances is 2750mm to ensure fire service vehicles can access the site. I therefore must 
object to this application until the Fire Service approval is granted.

The site currently exists as a garage site so theoretically the existing use is potentially more 
intensive than the proposed usage. Whilst there will be the occasional vehicle conflict there 
are few units and I am happy the site can operate as intended providing the access remains 
clear. 
I expect the reason for the proposals is the Garage site is mostly unused but the cars must 
park somewhere so I would want to ensure the access does not become restricted by parked 
cars. I therefore feel it is necessary to introduce junction protection at the proposed access 
point. 

The narrow access means refuse collection will not take place from the access road and the 
residents will need to move refuse receptacles onto the nearest adjacent Highway. Adequate 
space will be retained as part of the proposed development to store and dispose of refuse 
collection.

A development of this size and nature will not have a significant negative impact upon the 
local network capacity or road safety. 

This application will not impact upon the highways layout. 
Existing highways drainage will not change as a result of this development.
No public right of way will be obstructed by this development.



Whilst I have no objection in principle to this development it is essential the emergency 
services are satisfied with the access width. So I must object until they have approved the site 
access. 
To ensure the access remains clear junction protection lines are essential.

OFFICER RECOMMENDATION:
Officer Objects and Recommends Refusal of Application
CONDITIONS & INFORMATIVES
Prior to the development first coming into use waiting restrictions must be introduced around 
the site access point. 
 
Environmental Services
No objection. Request for condition relating to site investigation. 

REPRESENTATIONS

The application has been publicised with a site notice and neighbour notification letters. Four 
letters of objection have been received in respect of this application and the concerns raised 
are summarised below:
 The development will cause disruption and noise. 
 Has consideration been given to the privacy of surrounding houses? The proposal will look 

onto other people’s properties, invading their privacy. 
 The development will block sunlight into surrounding properties. 
 There will be noise from cars and people using the access road especially at night.
 Concerns for the safety of children due to the vehicle movements associated with the 

development.
 The narrow access to the site requires vehicles approaching from Kings Rd, to swing their 

vehicles onto the opposite side of the road when accessing the site. Vehicles also need to 
mount the pavement to access the site. 

 The site access is too narrow for bin collections or access by emergency vehicles. Bins will 
need to be collected from Lockhart Street.

 Access to the site is too narrow for the delivery of building materials with large vehicles, 
meaning materials will have to be dropped off at the site entrance, causing an obstruction 
on Lockhart Street.

 Damage to adjacent properties caused by vehicle movements.

ANALYSIS

The application site is Defined Urban Area as allocated under the Rochdale Unitary 
Development Plan.  As such, policy G/D/1 is relevant to any applications on the site and within 
the supporting text for this policy it is established that new development should be located in 
the urban area, so as to support urban regeneration and to protect the countryside. 

The application proposes the erection of one detached dwelling on land adjacent to no. 63 
Mere Lane. The site is considered as ‘previously undeveloped’ or ‘greenfield’. As the site is 
also outside of an area allocated for residential development, UDP policy H/3 is relevant and 
this states that the release of greenfield sites for housing will only be permitted if the supply of 
housing land falls below five years as defined by the projected annualised rate (i.e. the annual 
target for additional new homes). A five year housing supply within the borough cannot 
currently be demonstrated and as such, taking the above policy into account, it is considered 
that the release of greenfield sites such as this can be contemplated. 

As outlined at paragraph 14 of the NPPF, its underpinning message is a presumption in favour 
of sustainable development. In terms of decision taking, this means:



 Approving development proposals that accord with the development plan without delay; 
and

 Where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out-of-date, 
granting planning permission unless:
 Any adverse impact of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 

benefits, when assessed against the policies in [the] Framework taken as a whole; 
or

 Specified policies in [the] Framework indicate development should be restricted. 

Having specific regard to residents developments, chapter 6, paragraph 47 of the NPPF 
requires Local Planning Authorities to “boost significantly the supply of housing” in order to 
“provide five years” worth of housing against their housing requirements with an additional 
buffer of 5% (moved forward from later in the plan period) to ensure choice and competition in 
the market for land. Where there has been a record of persistent under delivery of housing, 
local planning authorities should increase the buffer to 20% (moved forward from later in the 
plan period) to provide a realistic prospect of achieving the planned supply and to ensure 
choice and competition in market for land. Paragraph 49 of the NPPF states that “housing 
applications should be considered in the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. Relevant policies for the supply of housing should not be considered up-to-date 
if the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing 
sites”. 

As advised above, at present, the Council is unable to demonstrate a five year supply of 
housing land (even without the 5 or 20 per cent buffer). Resultantly, the release of several 
windfall sites on greenfield land have been permitted. The deficiencies in the Council’s 
housing land supply have been highlighted in a number of recent appeal decisions from the 
Planning Inspectorate including, most pertinently, an appeal at Ramsden Farm (reference 
APP/P4225/A/11/160323). With specific reference to housing completions in Rochdale and the 
target in the NPPF the Inspector indicated, as part of this appeal, that;  

 “Over the period 2003/4 to 2010/11 actual completions fell well below the Regional 
Strategy annual requirement even when this had not been adjusted upwards to allow 
for previous shortfalls. While there is no doubt that this is in part a reflection of the 
weak state of the economy it still amounts to a persistent under delivery of housing. 
Under such circumstances the Framework indicates that the Council should be able to 
demonstrate a five year supply plus an additional buffer of 20%. On the basis of the 
available evidence it is not safe to conclude that the Council can demonstrate a five 
year supply of deliverable housing sites let alone a five year supply plus a 20% buffer. 
UDP Policy H/3 advises that under such circumstances, the release of greenfield sites 
such as the appeal site can be contemplated.”

Having regard to a number of recent appeal decisions, the lack of a 5 year housing land 
supply within the borough and the provisions of UDP policy H/3 and the NPPF, reasons for 
refusal which, in effect, seek to place a moratorium on the residential development of 
greenfield sites will not be sustainable where no other demonstrable harm or conflict with other 
local or national planning policies exists. Whilst the proposal would result in residential 
development on a greenfield site, it is considered that the scheme is acceptable in all other 
respects. Given the government’s desire to provide a more flexible supply of housing land and 
having regard to the Inspector’s decision in respect of application 11/D54044, it is considered 
that it would not be sustainable to refuse this application on the grounds that the principle of 
residential development on this greenfield site is unacceptable. 

The proposal would make a valuable contribution to the supply of housing in the borough and 
would constitute sustainable development for the purposes of paragraph 14 of the NPPF.



With the principle of developing a greenfield site is deemed to be acceptable, it is considered 
that the application should be assessed against policy H/3 a which relates to residential 
developments outside of allocated areas and policy H/4 which relates to sites where access is 
restricted by surrounding land uses. Under these policies it is established that the site should 
be well located in terms of access to jobs, shops and services by modes of transport other 
than the car, the development should be compatible with the Councils policies dealing with 
flood risk, unstable land, contaminated land and landfill gas and the development should be 
compatible with surrounding uses, including highways, both in terms of its impact upon those 
uses and the impact of surrounding uses upon the amenity of future residents. Development 
should also be sensitive to and compatible with the character of the surrounding area and 
adjoining buildings in terms of scale, design and materials. 

Design and layout

In accordance with policies G/BE/1 and BE/2 which related to design quality, it is established 
that proposals for development contribute to the provision of an attractive, safe and accessibly 
built environment and demonstrate good design. In demonstrating good design, proposals 
should:
 Be compatible with or improve their surroundings by virtue of their scale, density, 

height, massing, layout, materials, architectural style and detail and means of 
enclosure. 

 Include appropriate treatment of open spaces between and around buildings, including 
the provision of landscaping as an integral part of the development layout,

 Retain key natural features, including trees, as part of the landscaping of the site. 

The NPPF, paragraph 7 also relates to good design and requires that development functions 
well and adds to the overall quality of the area. Proposals should also establish a strong sense 
of place, respond to local character and history, reflecting the identify of local surroundings 
and create safe and accessible environments. 

As this application is only for outline permission, full details have not been received at this time 
and no details have been received in regards to the final design of the properties with the only 
details provided on a proposed layout plan.  Given this, a full assessment into visual amenity 
cannot be made. Nonetheless, the details submitted have adequately demonstrated that a 
development of four dwellings with all required ancillary development, i.e. parking, bin storage 
and access, can be adequately accommodated on the site. The layout plan demonstrates that 
a well laid out development can be provided and this would not create a cramped or overly 
dominant proposal. Furthermore, the inclusion of site sections show that while there is an 
increase in level compared to those dwellings to the north, the level change to other 
surrounding properties is not significant and a development could be accommodated on the 
site without result in proportions that would over dominate the surrounding development. 

The layout as submitted, which incorporates a terrace row of four dwellings would also be in 
keeping with the layout of the surrounding residential development which includes large 
swathes of terrace residential properties. This proposal would however, allow for a more 
modern layout compared to those Victorian era dwellings, and would include the provision of 
external amenity space, private and visitor parking. 

In light of the above it is considered that although full design details are not for consideration 
at this stage, the information submitted has demonstrated that a development of four dwellings 
could be accommodated on the site, in the layout as shown, without causing any undue 
detriment to visual amenity. The application is therefore considered to be acceptable in this 
regard and in accordance with policies G/BE/1, BE/2, H/3 and H/4 of the Rochdale UDP. 

Residential amenity



The protection of residential amenity is also an important consideration and under policies H/3 
and H/4 it is established that surrounding uses should not impact on the amenity of any future 
residents and proposals should not adversely affect the amenity of residents of adjoining 
dwellings through overlooking, overshadowing, loss of privacy or daylight. The Key Principle of 
the NPPF as set out in paragraph 17, also establishes that planning should always seek to 
secure high quality design and a good standard of amenity for all existing and future 
occupants of land and buildings. 

In assessing the impact on surrounding residents regard should be given to the Councils SPD 
– Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development, which establishes the following 
minimum standards that should be provided around dwellings:-
 21 metres between principal elevations
 14 metres between a principal elevation and a secondary elevation
 4.5 metres from a ground floor principal elevation room to a footpath or road
 10.5 metres from the principal rear elevation to the site boundary. 

Again, a full assessment into amenity cannot be made without details of scale and 
appearance. However, the layout plan clearly demonstrates that adequate space about 
buildings can be provided on the site, with a minimum of 21 metres provided between 
habitable room windows and 15.0 metres (at an oblique angle) is provided between the non-
habitable elevations and the original habitable elevations of surrounding dwellings (without 
including extensions). It is recognised that some of the neighbouring properties have been 
extended with single storey additions and these reduce the distance to Kings Road (non-
habitable to habitable) to a minimum of 14 metres (at an oblique angle), and to Royds Street 
(non-habitable to habitable) to a minimum of 14.0 metres and 12.5 metres (non-habitable to 
non-habitable) (both at an oblique angle). Nonetheless, these distances to extensions would 
not result in any undue harm and a development could still be created on the footprint 
indicated that protects the amenity of both existing and future residents. 

In addition to the above it is recognised that there is a change of levels across the site with an 
approximately 3.0 metre maximum level distance between the site  and Royds Street to the 
north. This level distance is then reduced to approximately 1 metre maximum to other 
surrounding properties. 

It is recognised that this level distance must be taken into account with any final scale and 
design for properties on the site, but as the above mentioned distances demonstrate, it is 
considered that a development could be spatially accommodated on the site and that the 
changes in levels is not preventative in developing a scheme that would ensure the continued 
protection of residential amenity. In light of this it is considered that the four dwellings could be 
sited on the site without unduly impacting on residential amenity and in this regard the 
application accords with policies H/3, H/4 and BE/2 of the UDP. 

In terms of residential amenity it is noted that the this has been raised as a point for objection 
by the neighbours, with concerns that the proposal will adversely impact on light and privacy. 
Nonetheless, as is clearly demonstrated above the proposal can be achieve all required space 
about buildings so as to protect the amenity of surrounding residents and this matter will be 
given further consideration in the assessment of scale and layout. 

Highway safety

The protection of highway safety is an important consideration with any development and 
under policy A/8 it is established that new development will be permitted provided that the 
additional traffic generated will not be detrimental to the safe and efficient operation of the 
highway network, both adjacent to and further away from the site. Policy A/10 also sets out 
parking standards, with regard given to the location of the development, access to other 



transport modes, the availability of other convenient and safe off-street parking as well as on 
street parking provision in the area. 

To assess the impacts of the development on highway safety consultations have been 
undertaken with the Councils Highway Services and they have noted that the width of the 
access to the site is narrow, and as such have some concerns over the access for fire service 
vehicles. Nonetheless, they also note that the established use of the site is as a garage site 
and between the years of 2008 and 2010 a total of 24 new garage units were approved on the 
site. Taking the garage use into account and the previous approvals, Highways have noted 
that the garage use is potentially more intensive that the proposed residential use. 
Furthermore, while it is acknowledged that there will be the occasional vehicle conflict, there 
are very few units and the site can operated as intended provided the access remains clear, a 
matter which can be control though a condition requiring waiting restrictions.

Further to the above, it is noted by Highways that one of the reasons for the proposal may be 
that the garage site was underused. Nonetheless, the cars must park somewhere and it is 
important to ensure that the access to the site does not become restricted by parked cars. 
Highways have therefore requested junction protection at the access point, however as they 
have stated that this use is less intensive than the former garage use, this condition is deemed 
to be unreasonable, as the proposal would be a reduction is the previous and approved traffic 
movements. It is also noted such restrictions could result in amenity concerns for existing 
properties with parking restriction being brought in outside their dwellings. In further regard to 
the narrow site access it is acknowledged that this will be restrictive to refuse collection within 
the site and residents will therefore need to place their bins onto the nearest adjacent highway 
for collection. Highway Services have however considered this to be an appropriate 
arrangement and will not unduly impact on highway safety. 

In light of the above, it is acknowledged that Highways have some reservations regarding the 
width of the site access, but these relate solely to the access of fire service vehicles rather 
than any impact on highway safety, which is considered to be acceptable. Further 
consultations have been undertaken by the Fire Service who have sent a standard response 
advising on their general access requirements. It is acknowledged that the access would not 
comply with all these requirements, but this is a balanced risk where it is considered that while 
access may not be ideal, it would not be impossible. Furthermore, it must be acknowledged 
that the NPPF states that planning permission should be granted unless any adverse impacts 
of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits. In this instance it is 
considered that the access constraints would not result in any immediate undue planning 
harm, although it is acknowledge that there are some potential future risks. These risks do not 
however outweigh the benefits of the development and as such it is considered that the 
application cannot be refused in this regard. 

It is noted that some highway safety matters have been raised as a concern in the received 
objections. Most of these relating to the suitability of the access have been addressed above, 
but in regard to vehicle movements damaging properties, this is not a material planning 
consideration and cannot be taken into account as part of this application. Highway Services 
have assessed the site access as suitable and it is material that the site has an established 
garage use, with 28 garages approved on site between 2008 and 2010. Furthermore, while it 
is acknowledged that the site entrance may be restrictive in large construction and delivery 
vehicles accessing the site, any impacts associated with this will be for a temporary period 
during construction only and cannot be given substantive weight in the assessment of the 
application. 

In light of the above it is considered that the application would adequately protect highway 
safety at and around the site would appropriately accord with policies G/A/1, A/8, A/10, H/3 
and H/4 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan. 



Ecology

Due to the vegetated state of the site it is important to assess its ecological value, with policies 
G/NE/1, NE/2, NE/3 and NE/4 requiring that biodiversity and sites of ecological value be 
protected. Consultations have therefore been undertaken with the Manchester Greater 
Ecology Unit (GMEU) who have confirmed no objection to the proposed development.  GMEU 
have advised no objections on nature conservation grounds and have also confirmed that the 
development will have no impact on the special nature conservation interest of the Rochdale 
Canal SAC.  With these comments in mind it is considered that there would be no undue 
ecological harm as a result of this proposal and the application would accord with policies 
G/NE/1, NE/2, NE/3 and NE/4 of the UDP. 

Trees

Under policy NE/8 of the UDP it is important the consideration is given to trees and woodland 
on developments sites, with proposals required to ensure that there is suitable space for the 
successful retention of the like. As such consultations have been undertaken with the 
Council’s Green Infrastructure Officer so as to assess the value of the trees and the 
subsequent impact of the proposal. To date no consultation response has been received, 
however after viewing the trees on the site visit it was observed that they are all immature, 
self-seeded specimens that do not have any great amenity value and could not be deemed as 
worthy of protection. Taking this into account alongside the minimal ecological value of the site 
(as described above), it is considered that the removal of the trees and other vegetation on 
site would not result in any undue harm and would subsequently accord with policies G/NE/5 
and NE/8 of the UDP. 

Pollution control

Under policy G/EM/1 it is established that development should be undertaken in the interests 
of good environmental management with policy EM/4 requiring that where there are 
reasonable grounds to suspect that land for development has the potential for contamination, 
the council will require a detail survey of ground conditions. 

To assess the application in this regard consultations have been sought from Environmental 
Health Officers and while they have confirmed no objection to the proposal, a request for 
ground investigation has been made. This is considered to be a reasonable request in line 
with the above comments and as such an appropriately worded condition should be included 
on any approval. Subject to this condition the application is considered acceptable in terms of 
pollution control and is in accordance with policies G/EM/1 and EM/4 of the UDP.

Other considerations

In other considerations it is noted that objections have been received over the noise and 
disturbance created by the development and the noise created by additional traffic noise. In 
terms of the development noise, it is unclear over whether these concerns relate to the 
construction period or the finished development, nonetheless, the construction noise would 
only be for a temporary period and while it is acknowledged that all development will result in 
some disturbance, this is accepted as a part of the development process and would not result 
in undue harm and construction hours can be controlled through condition. Additionally, the 
end development of residential properties is in keeping with the surrounding residential use 
and would not create any harmful impacts to surrounding residents. 

In regards to traffic noise, this would be only minimal and would be in keeping with the 
domestic traffic generation in the area. Furthermore, the traffic generation from four properties 
is likely to be less than that created by the previously approved 24 garages and as such would 
be a reduction on the established site use. 



There are no additional material considerations in the assessment of this application and in 
light of the above the recommendation is for approval. 

RECOMMENDATION

APPROVE subject to conditions:-

 1 The approval of the Local Planning Authority shall be sought in respect of the following 
matters before the development is commenced:- the appearance; landscaping and 
scale.
 
Reason: The application is granted in outline only under the provisions of Article 4 of the 
Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) Order 2010 and 
details of the matters referred to in the condition have not been submitted for 
consideration.

 2 Application for approval of reserved matters must be made not later  than the expiration 
of three years beginning with the date of this permission and the development must be 
begun not later than whichever is the later of the following dates: (a)The expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission; or (b)The expiration of two years from the 
final approval of the reserved  matters, or in the case of approval on different dates, the 
final  approval of the last such matter to be approved.

Reason: To comply with the requirements of section 92 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004

 3 This permission relates to the following plans:- 

- Existing Site Plan - Drawing no. P4148_1001 - Received 9th June 2014
- Existing Sections - Drawing no. P4148_1002 - Received 9th June 2014
- Proposed Site Plan - Drawing no. P4148_0001 - Received 9th June 2014
- Design and Access Statement - Reference P4148 - Received 9th June 2014

and the development shall be carried out in complete accordance with these drawings 
hereby approved.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of 
development in accordance with the policies contained within the adopted Rochdale 
Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.

 4 No construction or operations associated with construction, including vehicle movements 
to and from the site shall take place other than between the hours of 0800 to 1800 
Monday to Friday (inclusive) and 0900 to 1400 on Saturdays and not at all on Sundays 
or Bank / Public Holidays. 



Reason: In the interests of residential amenity and to ensure that surrounding residents 
are adequately protected from unacceptable levels of noise and disturbance and to 
accord with policies G/EM/1, EM/2 and EM/3 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan.

 5 Prior to commencement of the development an investigation and risk assessment, in 
addition to any assessment provided with the planning application, must be completed to 
assess the nature and extent of any contamination on the site, whether or not it 
originates on the site.  The investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken by 
competent persons and a written report of the findings must be produced and shall have 
been first submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before 
development commences.  The report of the findings must include:
i)  a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination
ii) an assessment of the potential risks to:

• human health,
• property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, 
woodland, and service lines and pipes,
• adjoining land,
• groundwaters and surface waters,
• ecological systems,
• archeological sites and ancient monuments;

iii)  where unacceptable risks are identified, an appraisal of remedial options and 
proposal of the preferred option(s)

The development shall thereafter be completed in full accordance with the approved 
recommendations.

Reason: In the interests of pollution control and to protect any future residents from any 
contamination on the site and to accord with policies G/EM/1 and EM/4 of the Rochdale 
Unitary Development Plan.

Reason for pre-commencement condition: It is important to establish the presence of 
any contamination and any required management proposals before ground works take 
place in order to adequately prevent contamination risks and harm to future residents. 

 6 No development shall take place until a scheme for foul and suface water drainage for 
the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The scheme, as approved, shall be implemented in full before the development is first 
commenced and be retained as such thereafter. 

Reason: To secure a satisfactory system of drainage and to prevent pollution of the 
water environment in accordance with Policies EM/7 and EM/8 and the principles of 
Policy EM/7 of the Council’s Unitary Development Plan.

Reason for pre-commencement condition:
Drainage of the site is integral to the development and is important in preventing 
pollution of the water environment. The construction of the site will need to give regard to 
the approved details which therefore must be approved before development is first 
commenced.

 7 Any application for the approval of reserved matters shall include details of existing 
levels and proposed finished floor levels for each building, and the development shall 
thereafter be constructed wholly in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In the interests of visual and residential amenity and to ensure a satisfactory 
relationship between the development and surrounding buildings and to accord with 
policies H/3, H/4, G/BE/1 and BE/2 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan.



Report Author Rachel Carney

___________________________________________



Application Number: 15/00735/HOUS    Ward: Bamford      

Proposal: Proposed two storey and single storey rear extension with balcony including 
front dormer demolition of existing porch and erection of replacement porch

Site Address: 26 Linnet Hill Rochdale OL11 4DA  

Applicant: Miss Claire Smith
                  

RECOMMENDATION: Granted subject to conditions

DELEGATION SCHEME

The application has been brought to the Committee as more than four representations in 
opposition to the officer recommendation have been received. The Committee has delegated 
powers to approve or refuse the application based on reasonable planning grounds.

SITE

The application relates to 26 Linnet Hill in Rochdale, a detached property located within the 
Defined Urban Area. The dwelling is set back from the road 14m by a front garden and 
driveway leading to the existing attached garage. To the rear of the house is a significant 
private garden 65m in length which extends to the property boundary with Roch Valley Way. 



To the south of the site there are four neighbouring detached dwellings that share a boundary 
with the applicant property. Due to the layout of the surrounding dwellings; 28 Linnet Hill 
presents a side elevation to the site, 30 Linnet Hill presents a rear elevation towards the 
proposed extension and 32 and 34 Linnet Hill present both their side and rear elevations to the 
site. To the north of the application dwelling are two significant detached houses; Roche Hill 
and 471 Bury Road.

PROPOSAL

The application proposal is for a two-storey rear extension, projecting from the existing rear 
elevation by 7.9m and extending across the full width of the existing dwelling at 8.35m. The 
extension would be predominantly two storeys in height, with a gable roof extending from the 
existing dwelling roof at a peak height of 7.8m and an eaves height of 5.1m from ground level 
and make use of tiles to match existing. On the south side of the proposed extension, a flat 
roof would be constructed at a height of 5.3m, and would be covered in zinc. On the north side 
of the extension a cut-out balcony would be placed, measuring 2.95m in depth and a width 
across the rear elevation of 4.75m. Proposed materials for construction of the extension would 
be self-coloured render with stone and timber cladding for walls and would be in line with 
proposals to render the remainder of the existing dwelling. The roof would be clad with tiles to 
match existing with the exception of the flat roof in zinc. 

Fenestration on the ground floor would consist of bi-fold patio doors set in the rear and south 
side elevations of the extension and windows with a base set at approximately 1.8m above 
ground level in the north side elevation. On the first floor a set of bi-fold doors would be 
installed on the rear elevation to access the balcony and a large window adjacent to this. All 
would be grey UPVC to match proposals to replace the remaining windows in the existing 
dwelling with similar materials.

On the front elevation, the application proposes the installation of two dormers, faced in 
timber, to form the conversion of the roof space over the existing garage into a bedroom. 
These would feature a flat roof which would be set at a height of 1m above the roof plane and 
extend forwards from the existing roof by 2.4m. The base of both dormers would be at 4.2m 
above ground level. 

RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY

National Guidance

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

The Department for Communities and Local Government published the NPPF on 27 March 
2012.  The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and how these are 
expected to be applied.  

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

The government published its NPPG on 6 March 2014. This is intended to complement the 
NPPF and to provide a single resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and 
streamlining the material. Almost all previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been 
cancelled. Specific reference will be made to the NPPG or other national advice in the 
Analysis section of the report, where appropriate.

Unitary Development Plan (UDP): 

G/D/1              Defined Urban Area



G/H/1              Housing
H/11                Residential Extensions

G/BE/1            Design Quality
BE/2                Design Criteria for New Development

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD):
Supplementary Planning Guidance note ‘Guidelines and Standards for Residential 
Development’.

PUBLICITY
Earliest Decision Date: 6 August 2015
Revised Expiry Date:  No extension agreed  

Site Notice: n/a
Press Advert: n/a

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

None.

CONSULTATION RESPONSES

Highways and Engineering – 

No highway objections in relation to this proposal. 

Environmental Control (Landfill Gas) -  

Should permission be granted, attach the following:

No development shall commence until proposals for gas protection measures, to be 
incorporated into the proposed building to prevent the ingress of landfill gas or ground gas, 
have been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. 

The development shall thereafter be completed in accordance with the approved details and a 
Verification Report confirming the installation of the approved protection measures shall be 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.

REPRESENTATIONS

Letters of notification were sent to surrounding neighbours and five letters of objection were 
received. The main points raised, along with the Officer response, are listed below:

 Concerns regarding the size of the development and the effect it will have on the 
neighbourhood and the natural environment, especially to the local wildlife. 

Officer response: It is acknowledged that the proposal is for a substantial householder 
extension; however, it is considered that the private rear garden of the application 
property is of a large enough area to accommodate the extension. The application 
does not propose the removal or pruning of any trees or hedges on the site and as 
such it is not considered that there would be any undue impact upon the natural 
environment in the vicinity.



 Concerns that privacy and natural daylight of neighbouring properties will be 
compromised. Linnet Hill was built in such a way that no property would encroach on 
one another’s space or sense of privacy and well-being.

Officer response: The application proposes the installation of one window on the 
ground floor of the south elevation of the rear extension which would be well screened 
from neighbouring dwellings by the existing mature vegetation on the boundary. On the 
north elevation of the extension one window would be installed at a height of 2m above 
ground level. As such, it is not considered that the proposal would unduly affect the 
privacy amenity of neighbouring residents. The potential impact upon privacy of the 
changes to the front elevation is considered below. 

With regard to potential impact on natural daylight, it is noted that the existing dwelling 
and proposed extension stand to the north of neighbouring dwellings at 28, 30, 32 and 
34 Linnet Hill and as such it is not considered that they would unduly impact upon the 
provision of sunlight through overshadowing. The dwellings to the north of the 
application site are situated a minimum distance of 26.5m from the north elevation of 
the proposed extension and the existing mature and high vegetation on the north 
boundary already creates a screening barrier between the two curtilages. 

 The proposed dormer additions to the property would have privacy implications for the 
occupants of 3 Linnet Hill, primarily with regard to the main bedrooms, which are not 
currently overlooked by any habited rooms at 26 Linnet Hill.

Officer response: Due to the angle at which 26 Linnet Hill is situated in relation to the 
dwelling at 3 Linnet Hill, the proposed dormers would predominantly serve to overlook 
the street itself to the junction with Rossmere Avenue, as opposed to looking directly 
onto the neighbouring dwellings. The distance between the above properties would 
remain as it is at present, with a minimum separation of 37 metres. This far exceeds 
the minimum separation standards as defined within section 5.2 of the Council’s 
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note ‘Guidelines and Standards for Residential 
Development’ which calls for a separation of 21 metres between the principal 
elevations of dwellings (which includes windows to habitable rooms, i.e. living rooms, 
kitchen/dining rooms and bedrooms) and as such is considered to be acceptable.

 The proposal is for a very substantial development which would bring the existing 
residence closer to 34 Linnet Hill and increasing the extent to which the occupants are 
subject to a potential reduction in privacy, especially during winter months, when 
foliage is less, as the proposed balcony and its elevation would be facing in the 
direction of 34 Linnet Hill.

Officer response: Whilst the proposed extension would project from the existing rear 
elevation of the application dwelling by 7m, therefore technically decreasing the 
separation distance to 34 Linnet Hill, the rear elevation of the dwelling would still be 
23.5m from the beginning of the shared boundary with the neighbouring property. The 
proposed balcony would primarily serve to overlook the garden of 26 Linnet Hill as it 
would be screened on both side elevations and as such it is not considered that the 
balcony would impact upon the privacy of adjoining occupiers to a significantly greater 
extent than the existing rear windows of the house.

 Concern that the trees located within the boundaries of the property, owned by number 
26 would be protected, as they provide a wonderful habitat for local bird life and act as 
an attractive feature enhancing the character of ‘Linnet’ Hill.

Officer response: The application contains no proposals for the removal or pruning of 
any trees or hedges on the site, and it has been confirmed in correspondence from the 



agent that the mature landscaping on the site boundary will be retained. As such, it is 
not considered that there would be any issues with regard to impact upon wildlife etc. 
as a result of the development.  

 The size and height of the proposed extension would lead to the building spanning the 
whole of the rear of 30 Linnet Hill with the two storey extension appearing as a three 
story from the rear garden of number 30 which is set at a lower level.

Officer response: The rear elevation of the proposed extension would lie at a ground 
level situated 2.1m higher than the ground level as measured at the northernmost 
corner of the garden of 30 Linnet Hill. Whilst it is acknowledged that this will serve to 
increase the perceived height of the development from the south it is not considered 
that the difference in levels would lead to an unacceptable overbearing impact upon 
occupiers of neighbouring dwellings to the south of the site. 

 The two storey extension will be of grande stature and it is felt that the height of the 
property will have a detrimental effect on the aspect of the rear garden at 32 Linnet Hill. 

Officer response: See the above response. 

 Loss of daylight to 30 Linnet Hill and loss of sunshine in the garden.

Officer response: It is not considered that the proposed extension would result in an 
undue loss of light to the rear of 30 Linnet Hill by virtue of the fact that the application 
site is located to the north of the neighbouring properties and as such will not present 
an obstacle in the provision of daylight. 

Alongside the above letters of objection, one letter of support was received from the applicant 
and is included below:

I am the applicant and we reside at 26 Linnett Hill. I would like to make all our 
neighbours aware that the pre-planning and professional consultants that have advised 
and guided the application to extend the property has taken every care and attention 
into our neighbours boundaries / potential privacy concerns. We have been consulting 
over a 12 month period from when we had our offer accepted by Mr Baker. We are a 
growing family of 6, I am currently 7 months pregnant, we purchased Linnett Hill as a 
'forever home' with vision of extending as the overall plot is nearing 1 acre. 

We are a very private family, so I respect all aspects of the privacy concerns my 
neighbours have. I have 4 children under 10 and I am a Childcare Professional who 
owns several nurseries in North Manchester fully aware on keeping children safe. The 
safeguarding and privacy of my children was the reason we purchased Linnet Hill at a 
premium price compared to other properties within the surrounding area. We want to 
keep all aspects of privacy, existing trees, wildlife and aim to make the property as 
sustainable and self-sufficient as possible by reducing our carbon footprint as much as 
possible. 

We do not know any of our neighbours on a personal level as we are very private. I 
respect each of your comments as being valuable to you all, but wanted to give you 
some insight to 'us' as a family as well. The current house is in disrepair and a re-
model, I feel would benefit Linnett Hill. There are several different architectural designs 
within Linnet Hill and we want to create our own family home with family living being 
paramount to us as a family. We accept that there are concerns with the application 
from all 4 properties (28, 30, 32, 34) who back onto our back garden, however we have 
ensured that we have followed all the guidelines and advice from professionals, I can 



assure all of our neighbours we have followed the guidelines correctly and do not want 
any upset to any parties. Thank You for your time.

ANALYSIS

Principle of Development

The application site is allocated as Defined Urban Area under the Rochdale Unitary 
Development Plan. Policy G/D/1 is therefore relevant to any applications on the site and in the 
supporting text to this policy it is established that new development should be located in the 
urban area, so as to support urban regeneration and to protect the countryside. 

With the above policy in mind, it is considered that subject to the appropriate assessment of 
matters such as amenity, highway safety and the environment, the principle of the 
development of a residential extension on site is acceptable.

Impact upon Visual Amenity

Policies H/11, G/BE/1 and BE/2 of the Council’s Unitary Development Plan require residential 
development and extensions to dwellings to be compatible with their surroundings in terms of 
scale, height, massing, layout, materials and architectural style in order to contribute to the 
provision of an attractive, safe and accessible built environment. 

In addition to the above, paragraphs 56 and 58 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
state that the Government attaches great importance to the design of the built environment 
and that good design should contribute positively to making places better for people and 
should be visually attractive as a result of good architecture and appropriate landscaping.

The proposed materials for construction of the extension would be self-coloured render 
alongside stone and timber cladding. Although a departure from the existing material of pale 
brick it would be in line with proposals to render the remainder of the existing dwelling, and it is 
considered that it would represent an improvement to the visual appearance of the dwelling. 
The proposed timber cladding on the rear elevation of the extension is considered to be a 
contemporary and sensitive addition to the dwelling and, by virtue of the position, would not 
adversely affect the character of the street scene.

In considering the scale of the development, although the extension as proposed would 
represent a significant addition to the host dwelling, it would not be easily visible from any 
public vantage points and as such it is considered that it would not result in significant harm to 
the character of the area or the street scene. The proposed roofing arrangement would 
preserve the existing front elevation roof plan, and the overall ridge height would remain the 
same. The proposed gable projection and flat roof above the extension would be subordinate 
to the existing dwelling and would not serve to adversely affect the appearance of the building.  

With regard to the proposal for the construction of dormer windows above the existing garage, 
following amendments agreed through discussion with the agent, applicant and planning 
officer, it is considered that the dormer designs would be in keeping with the architectural style 
of the dwelling and would constitute an unobtrusive addition to the front elevation of the house. 
The front face of the dormers are set back from the main wall of the dwelling, set well below 
the ridge and set in from the side walls of the garage. In considering the above, the application 
is considered to accord with the expectations of section 6.3 of the Council’s Supplementary 
Planning Guidance note ‘Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development’. The 
proposal to clad the dormers in timber is considered to represent a contemporary addition to 



the dwelling and will serve to modernise and improve the appearance of the dwelling on the 
street scene.

Therefore, and in summary of the above, the application is considered to accord with criteria 
(a) and (b) of policy H/11 and criterion (a) of policy BE/2 of the Council’s adopted Unitary 
Development Plan, conforms to the expectations of the National Planning Policy Framework 
and is acceptable with regard to the potential impact upon visual amenity. 

Impact upon Residential Amenity

Protection of residential amenity is considered under policy H/11 of the Council’s Unitary 
Development Plan, which requires that extensions should not unduly affect the privacy and 
amenity of adjoining residents through overlooking, overshadowing, loss of outlook or daylight. 
Paragraph 17 of the National Planning Policy Framework containing the ‘core planning 
principles’ advises that planning should always seek to secure a good standard of amenity for 
all existing and future occupants of land and buildings.

Further to the above are the considerations of the Council’s Supplementary Planning 
Guidance note ‘Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development’ which outlines the 
expected standards for spacing between adjoining dwellings. 

The above guidance calls for minimum space standards of:
i. 21 metres between the principal elevations of dwellings
ii. 14 metres between a principal elevation and a secondary elevations
iii. 4.5 metres from a ground floor principal elevation room to a footpath or road
iv. 10.5 metres from the principal rear elevation to the site boundary

It is not considered that the proposed extension would unduly affect the amenity of residents 
to the north of the site for development at Roche Hill and 471 Bury Road by virtue of the well-
established, mature vegetation situated on the boundary to the application property. Existing 
spacing distances would be maintained at 26.5m to Roche Hill and 36m to 471 Bury Road. 

With regard to the impact on neighbours to the south it is noted that the design and layout of 
Linnet Hill leads the side elevation of the application dwelling to face the side and rear 
elevations of adjoining dwellings. It is not considered that the proposed extension would 
unduly affect the amenity of neighbours at 28 Linnet Hill to a greater extent than the existing 
dwelling at present by virtue of the existing dwelling spanning the majority of the length of the 
boundary between the two properties. The spacing from the side elevation of the extension to 
the rear elevation of 30 Linnet Hill would stand at a minimum of 23m. 

The spacing to the rear elevation of 32 Linnet Hill from the side elevation of the extension 
would stand at 20m and it is noted that the neighbouring dwelling stands at a near 90 degree 
angle to the application property. The separation exceeds the above guidance which calls for 
a 14m separation and the fact that the extension would not extend along the rear boundary of 
the property with the site further mitigates any concerns regarding impact upon privacy. 
Finally, a distance of 30m from the rear elevation of the proposed extension to the side 
elevation of 34 Linnet Hill would be maintained.

The application proposes the installation of one window on the ground floor of the south 
elevation of the rear extension which would be well screened from neighbouring dwellings by 
the existing mature vegetation on the boundary. On the north elevation of the extension one 
window would be installed at a height of 2m above ground level. As such, it is not considered 
that the proposal would unduly affect the privacy amenity of neighbouring residents.

Due to the angle at which 26 Linnet Hill is situated in relation to the dwelling at 3 Linnet Hill, 
the proposed dormers above the existing garage would predominantly serve to overlook the 



street itself to the junction with Rossmere Avenue, as opposed to looking directly onto the 
neighbouring dwellings. The distance between the above properties would remain as it is at 
present, with a minimum separation of 37 metres. This far exceeds the above standards for 
separation between two principal elevations and it is therefore not considered that the 
installation of dormers and windows to the front elevation would unduly deprive neighbouring 
residents of their privacy. 

The development would not divest the application property of private garden and amenity 
space by virtue of the large private rear garden which would extend 58m from the proposed 
rear elevation to the boundary with Roch Valley Way. 

Therefore, and in summary of the above, the application is considered to accord with criteria 
(c) and (d) of policy H/11 of the Council’s adopted Unitary Development Plan, the 
requirements of the Council’s SPG note ‘Guidelines and Standards for Residential 
Development’ and conforms to the expectations of the National Planning Policy Framework 
and is acceptable with regard to the potential impact upon residential amenity of occupiers and 
adjoining neighbours. 

Summary

In conclusion, the proposed extension would be in keeping with the host dwelling in regard to 
scale, design and appearance, and by virtue of being situated mainly to the rear of the 
property would not have an undue and negative impact on the street scene. The proposed 
alterations to the dwelling would ultimately serve to improve the appearance and design 
quality of the building. The potential impact upon adjoining dwellings has been assessed and it 
is not considered that the extension would unduly affect the amenity of occupants.  The 
proposal is compliant with UDP policies H/11 (Residential Extension) and BE/2 (Design 
Criteria for New Development). Where proposals comply with the development plan then the 
National Planning Policy Framework states they should be approved without delay. The 
application is therefore recommended for approval.

RECOMMENDATION

GRANT subject to conditions:-

 1 The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning 
with the date of this permission.

Reason: To comply with the requirements of section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004.

 2 For the avoidance of doubt, this permission relates to the following drawings:-

- Location Plan drawing no. 592-00
- Existing Survey drawing no. 592-01
- Proposed Floor Plans drawing no. 592-02 rev. a
- Proposed Elevations drawing no. 592-03 rev. a
- Proposed Site Plan drawing no. 592-04 rev. a
- Sample Materials drawing no. 592-05a
- Site Survey drawing no. 592-06
- Existing Site Section drawing no. 592-07
- Proposed Section drawing no. 592-08a



and the development shall be carried out in complete accordance with these drawings 
hereby approved.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of 
development in accordance with the policies contained within the adopted Rochdale 
Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.

 3 The materials used shall match those as stated within section 9 of the application form. 

Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity in 
accordance with Policies BE/2 and H/11 of the Council’s Unitary Development Plan.

Report Author David Allen

___________________________________________



Application Number: 15/00777/FUL    Ward: Castleton      

Proposal: Re-cladding and re-roofing of existing unit including an increase in roof 
height

Site Address: Woolworths Plc Royle Barn Road Rochdale OL11 3DU 

Applicant: Mr Zulfikar Ahmed
                  

RECOMMENDATION: Granted subject to conditions

DELEGATION SCHEME

The application has been called to committee by Councillor Rashid on the grounds that it is 
the wider public interest for Members to consider the proposal. The Rochdale Township 
Planning Sub Committee has delegated authority to determine the application either way on 
reasonable planning grounds.

SITE

The application relates to a circa 7.5 hectare area of land comprising the site of the former 
Woolworths headquarters and distribution depot off Royle Barn Road, Castleton. The site falls 



within a Primary Employment Zone as defined on the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan 
(UDP) Proposals Map and the application relates specifically to the large warehouse building. 

The existing warehouse building has a floor area of approximately 24,000m² and at the 
highest point measures 8m to the eaves and 10m to the ridge/apex. The building is generally 
two-storey in height, rectangular in shape with a shallow pitched roof organised in a saw-tooth 
formation with three ridgelines running longitudinally. Externally, the building is finished in a 
combination of brickwork and metal cladding, and the site is accessed directly off Royle Barn 
Road. 

The building has a long established industrial use and whilst permission has been granted in 
the past for a mixed use of the site, this permission has never been implemented. To the south 
of the building is a large yard area and a section of this is currently being used for the 
unauthorised storage of containers. The Council’s Enforcement Team are investigating this 
matter. 

In terms of the surrounding area, adjoining the northern end of the application building is a 
leisure use known the Soccer Factory and to the north west of the site, on the opposite side of 
Royle Barn Road, and to the north east, on the opposite side of Gypsy Lane, are industrial and 
warehouse premises.  The south east boundary of the site adjoins the Manchester to Leeds 
railway line as well as a builder’s merchants adjacent to Castleton railway station.  On the 
opposite side of the railway line are further business premises, some of which are within the 
Castleton South Conservation Area. At the nearest point the Conservation Area is 150m from 
the application building.  

The south west boundary of the site adjoins the rear elevations of properties on Smalley 
Street, on which the backs of terraced dwellings face onto the site for around half of its length.  
The site boundary to the rear of these dwellings is marked by a brick wall, which would 
previously have been the wall of a large warehouse building (the roof of which was 
subsequently removed) and this was last used as an open storage/parking area.  It is this part 
of the site that is currently being used for the unauthorised storage of containers. The closest 
dwellinghouse to the application building is number 35 Royle Barn Road some 120 metres to 
the southwest. 

PROPOSAL

This application seeks permission to raise the height of the existing building to14m to the 
eaves and 16m to the ridge/apex. The application also proposes to re-clad the building in 
silver profiled cladding and goosewing grey composite cladding on the roof. 

RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY

National Guidance

National Planning Policy Framework 

The Department for Communities and Local Government published the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) on 27 March 2012.  The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning 
policies for England and how these are expected to be applied.  

National Planning Policy Guidance

The government published its National Planning Practice Guidance on 6 March 2014. This is 
intended to complement the National Planning Policy Framework and to provide a single 
resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and streamlining the material. Almost all 
previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been cancelled. Specific reference will be 



made to the NPPG or other national advice in the Analysis section of the report, where 
appropriate.

Unitary Development Plan (UDP):

G/D/1 Defined Urban Area

G/EC/1 Employment Land Supply
EC/2 Primary Employment Zones

G/A/1 Accessibility
A/7
A/8 New Development – Capacity of the Highway Network
A/9 New Development – Access for General Traffic
A/10 New Development – Provision of Parking

G/BE/1 Design Quality
BE/2 Design Criteria for New Development

G/BE/9 Conservation of the Built Environment 
BE/17 New Development Affecting Conservation Areas 

G/EM/1 Environmental Protection and Pollution Control 
EM/3 Noise and New Development

Relevant Planning History

10/D52870 – Change of use of units K & L from warehouse to indoor sports facility – 
Approved.

10/D53466 – Screening opinion in respect of mixed use redevelopment of former Woolworths 
site – Approved.

10/D53889 – Outline application (including access and scale) for mixed use development for 
A1 (shops), A2 (financial and professional services), A3 (restaurants and cafes), A4 (drinking 
establishments), A5 (hot food takeaway), B1 (business), B2 (general industrial), B8 (storage 
and distribution), C3 (dwellinghouses) and D1 (non-residential institutions) – Approved.

13/00442 – Change of use of building from storage and distribution (use class B8) to leisure 
(use class D2) – Approved

13/00443 - Application to remove condition 12 of planning permission D53889 (Outline 
Application Including Access and Scale for Mixed Use Development For A1 (Shops), A2 
(Financial And Professional Services), A3 (Restaurants And Cafes), A4 (Drinking 
Establishments), A5 (Hot Food Takeaway), B1 (Business), B2 (General Industrial), B8 
(Storage And Distribution),  C3 (Dwellinghouses) And D1 (Non-Residential Institutions)) in 
order to allow retention of existing 6953 square metre warehouse to northern end of site for 
B1/B2/B8 purposes – Approved

CONSULTATION RESPONSES

Highways & Engineering:- The proposed development does not propose any material 
intensification of use at this location. As such there is no highway objection to this proposal.



Environmental Health: - The planning application does not indicate the proposed or intended 
user of the warehouse facility. As such it is impossible to comment on the concerns posed by 
residents regarding the facility being used by a chemicals company. 

The chemicals industry is regulated by a number of regulatory bodies including the 
Environment Agency, the Health and Safety Executive, Fire Authorities and Local Authorities. 
At this stage, it is not possible to determine who would regulate the warehouse when it is 
occupied.
 
Network Rail :- It is noted that the proposal is purely for the works to the industrial unit and not 
anything to do with the storage of hazardous chemicals on site, which Network Rail has been 
advised about. Network Rail recognises that the storage element is outside the planning 
application. We would highlight that the person responsible for the site will have to ensure that 
the storage of such substances are in accordance with the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) 
Order and the Dangerous Substances and Explosive Atmosphere Regulations. The site will 
also be subject to audits from the local fire authority.

In regards to the works to the existing unit:

1) Network Rail requests that the developer submit a risk assessment and method 
statement (RAMS) for the proposal to the Network Rail Asset Protection Engineer once 
the proposal has entered the development and construction phase. The RAMS should 
consider all works to be undertaken within 10m of the operational railway. We require 
reviewing the RAMS to ensure that works on site follow safe methods of working and 
have taken into consideration any potential impact on Network Rail land and the 
operational railway. The developer should contact Network Rail Asset Protection prior to 
works commencing at AssetProtectionLNWNorth@networkrail.co.uk to discuss the 
proposal and RAMS requirements in more detail.

2) The developer/applicant must ensure that their proposal, both during construction, and 
after completion of works on site, does not affect the safety, operation or integrity of the 
operational railway, Network Rail land and its infrastructure or undermine or damage or 
adversely affect any railway land and structures.

3) There must be no physical encroachment of the proposal onto Network Rail land, no 
over-sailing into Network Rail air-space and no encroachment of foundations onto 
Network Rail land and soil.

4) Any future maintenance must be conducted solely within the applicant’s land ownership. 

5) Should the applicant require access to Network Rail land to facilitate their proposal they 
would need to approach the Network Rail Asset Protection Team at least 20 weeks 
before any works are due to commence on site. The applicant would be liable for all 
costs incurred in facilitating the proposal and an asset protection agreement may be 
necessary to undertake works. Network Rail reserves the right to refuse any works by a 
third party that may adversely impact its land and infrastructure. 

6) Any unauthorised access to Network Rail air-space or land will be deemed an act of 
trespass.

7) Any scaffold which is to be constructed within 10 metres of the Network Rail / 
railway boundary fence must be erected in such a manner that at no time will any 
poles over-sail the railway and protective netting around such scaffold must be 
installed. The applicant / applicant’s contractor must consider if they can undertake the 
works and associated scaffold / access for working at height within the footprint of their 
property boundary. The applicant is reminded that when pole(s) are erected for 

mailto:AssetProtectionLNWNorth@networkrail.co.uk


construction or maintenance works, should they topple over in the direction of the 
railway then there must be at least a 3m failsafe zone between the maximum height of 
the pole(s) and the railway boundary. 

REPRESENTATIONS

This application was advertised with over 70 letters of notification sent to surrounding 
properties, notices erected close to the site and adverts placed in the local press. In response 
to this publicity, eight letters of objection have been received. 

The objections can be viewed in full on the Council’s website, however the points raised in the 
objections and the Officer’s responses are summarised below: 

- Nearly all objections received have referred to and raised concerns in relation to a 
rumour that a company called Tetrosyll will be occupying this building. The objectors 
have made various comments in relation to this, stating that Tetrosyll is a chemical 
company and such a use would be dangerous in a residential area. 

Response: This application seeks permission to re-clad and increase the height of the existing 
building, it does not seek permission to change the use of the building. 

The end user of the building is not yet known and not relevant to the determination of this 
planning application and as such any objections raised with regard to the potential future 
occupier are immaterial. This issue is discussed in more detail in the analysis section. 

- The building could block light for neighbouring residential properties. 

Response: The building to be increased in height is situated more than 100m from the nearest 
residential properties and as such, the proposed increase in the height of the building would 
not have a detrimental impact upon residential amenity through loss of outlook and 
overshadowing.   

- The Council should be helping the people of Castleton by restoring the area to its former 
state. 

Response: The building is currently vacant and the application seeks to extend its height to 
make it more viable for commercial use again, which in turn could create local jobs.  

- Houses should be built on this site and the Council should adhere to the outline planning 
permission granted in 2011.  

Response: Planning permission for residential and mixed use of this site has been approved in 
the past, however the scheme has never been taken forward by a developer. The Council 
cannot “force” the owner to implement a previous planning application, which in any case has 
now expired.  

- When Woolworths used this site, the ground used to shake as lorries drove down the 
road, and the reintroduction of this site for industrial use will cause serious vehicle 
problems in the area. 

Response: Planning permission is not required for the building/site to be brought back into 
industrial use. 

- The extended building would be an eyesore and out of keeping with the area.



Response: This is a mixed use area and the application site is specifically designated as an 
Employment Zone and industrial style buildings are both supported and encouraged in such 
areas. There are a number of other similar style industrial buildings and what is proposed 
would be in keeping with the surrounding area and result in a visual improvement to the 
existing building on the site.  

- There are a number of building cabins/containers stored on the site and these should be 
removed as they are a real eyesore.   

Response: The Council recognises that part of the site is currently the subject of unauthorised 
use for the storage of containers, however this is a separate issue and is not a material 
consideration in the determination of this application.  

- The raising of the roof will block views of the hills in the background from residential 
properties. 

Response: It is an established planning principle that there is no right to a view. 

- This site used to operate 24 hours and created issues with vehicle movements and flood 
lighting. The LPA should restrict these by condition on the current application, including 
restricting floodlighting being used on the site between the hours of 22:00 and 07:00. 

Response: This application seeks consent to extend and re-clad the building, it does not seek 
to alter the use of the building or the site. As such, the LPA cannot restrict the hours of 
operation or limit floodlight use. If an application for change of use is required and submitted in 
the future, the LPA could afford further consideration to intensification of use during the course 
of any future application.  

- The owner of number 18 Smalley Street has dumped 5 cars and a bus to the side of 43 
Smalley Street and these should be removed. 

Response: This is not relevant to the planning application under consideration. 

- The applicant/owner has partially knocked down a wall and it is not safe. If the site is to 
be used as a commercial distribution depot, this wall should be retained but if it is to be 
for a supermarket the wall can be demolished. 

Response: The LPA cannot require the applicant to either demolish or retain an existing wall. 
The structural condition of this wall is a matter for the owner of the wall.    

ANALYSIS

Principle of development

As noted above, the application building and wider site have a long established industrial use 
and this application seeks permission to re-clad and increase the height of the existing 
building on the site.  For the avoidance of doubt, the application does not seek permission to 
change the use of the building and therefore neither the use of the building, nor hours of 
operation are material considerations in the determination of this application.  In addition, the 
unauthorised storage of containers at the southern end of the site is a separate matter. 

The site is located within a mixed employment zone and UDP Policy EC/3 lists the types of 
development that are acceptable within such areas.  The application proposes an increase in 
the height of the existing building and is therefore in accordance with Policy EC/3 in principle.  



Two of the 12 core planning principles in the NPPF state that planning should support existing 
business sectors and proactively drive and support sustainable economic development to 
deliver the homes, business and industrial units that the country needs.  Paragraph 18 of the 
NPPF affirms that the Government is committed to securing economic growth in order to 
create jobs and prosperity. In addition, paragraph 19 of states that the “The Government is 
committed to ensuring that the planning system does everything it can to support sustainable 
economic growth. Planning should operate to encourage and not act as impediment to 
sustainable growth. Therefore significant weight should be placed on the need to support 
economic growth through the planning system.” 

This application seeks to modernise a vacant industrial unit through an increase in the height 
of the building and re-cladding of the elevations so that it can be brought back into use, which 
in turn would create jobs and support economic growth. Affording significant weight to the 
need to support economic growth, the application therefore accords with the NPPF and the 
principle of the extension and re-cladding is acceptable in this location. 

Impact upon neighbouring uses

One of the 12 core principles of the NPPF seeks to ensure that a good standard of amenity for 
all existing and future occupants of land and buildings. Criterion (i) of UDP policy BE/2 
requires development proposals to ensure good design by making adequate provision for 
natural light within and between buildings.

The surrounding area is a mixture of both commercial and residential uses, with the nearest 
residential dwellings being situated to the south of the site at on Royle Barn Road and Smalley 
Street. The nearest of these houses is positioned approximately 120m away from the 
application building and as such, it is considered that the increase in height to 16m would not 
have a detrimental impact upon the amenity of these residents in terms of overshadowing, 
loss of daylight or outlook. 

With regard to neighbouring businesses, the proposed increase in height would be compatible 
with the prevailing industrial character of adjoining uses within the mixed employment zone 
and would result in an acceptable relationship in accordance with the requirements of UDP 
policy BE/2.

In terms of noise nuisance, Policy EM/3 only permits development that “would not lead to 
unacceptable levels of noise nuisance to nearby existing or future occupants of buildings, or 
users of open space”. In specific reference to noise paragraph 123 of the NPPF states that 
decision should seek to: 

1. avoid noise from giving rise to significant adverse impacts on health and quality of 
life as a result of new development;

2. mitigate and reduce to a minimum other adverse impacts on health and quality of 
life arising from noise from new development, including through the use of 
conditions; 

3. recognise that development will often create some noise and existing businesses 
wanting to develop in continuance of their business should not have unreasonable 
restrictions put on them because of changes in nearby land uses since they were 
established; and

4. identify and protect areas of tranquillity which have remained relatively undisturbed 
by noise and are prized for their recreational and amenity value for this reason.

As noted above, the application seeks permission for an increase in the height of the building 
and re-cladding only, and as such the proposal would not result in any additional noise 
impacts upon neighbouring uses than the existing building and site, which could be reinstated 



to its former use without requiring planning permission.  The proposal therefore accords with 
Policy EM/3 of the UDP and the NPPF.  

Design, appearance and impact upon Conservation Area

Criterion (a) of UDP policy BE/2 requires development proposals to demonstrate good design 
by ensuring that they are compatible with or improve their surroundings by virtue of their scale, 
density, height, massing, layout, materials, architectural style and detail and means of 
enclosure.  

Additionally, UDP Policy BE/17 only permits development that preserves or enhances the 
character and appearance of the conservation area.  

Paragraph 131 of the NPPF states that, in determining planning applications, local planning 
authorities should take account of:

 the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and 
putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;

 the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to sustainable 
communities including their economic vitality; and

 the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character 
and distinctiveness.

The site is surrounded by similar industrial buildings and whilst the proposal would result in a 
building of increased height, the building would remain in keeping with the neighbouring 
industrial buildings.  The existing building has been vacant for a number of years and adds no 
visual quality to the area. The application seeks to re-clad the building in a modern material 
that is commonly found on industrial buildings in employment areas such as this and the 
replacement finish is considered to be an improvement on the existing and would result in a 
building with a more coherent and uniform appearance. 

In terms of the Castleton Conservation Area, the application building is some 150m from the 
Conservation Area and there are intervening industrial buildings between the application site 
and the conservation area, and the application site is not visible from public vantage points 
within the Conservation Area. With this in mind, it is considered that the proposal would have 
no impact on the conservation area in accordance with UDP Policy BE/17, as well as guidance 
within the NPPF.  

Access, Highways and Car Parking

UDP policies A/7 and A/9 require proposals to make adequate arrangements for access by 
service vehicles and general traffic. UDP policy A/8 states that additional traffic generated by 
development should not have a detrimental impact on the capacity of the highway network. 
Policy A/10 relates to parking provision.

The proposal seeks to extend the height of the building rather than increase its footprint and 
thus the development would not result in a significant increase in vehicle movements. A 
couple of objectors have mentioned potential vehicle movements as a concern, however the 
site has along established industrial use and could be brought back into use at any time. 

The existing service yard and parking facilities would not be altered and the proposal would 
have no materially greater impact on network capacity. The proposal would not have an 
adverse impact on highway safety and is therefore in accordance with the requirements of 
UDP policies A/7, A/8, A/9 and A/10.

Railway Line



The eastern boundary of the application site adjoins the Castleton Railway Line. Network Rail 
has no objection to the application subject to conditions and informatives on any approval. 
These include the submission of a Risk Assessment and Method Statement (RAMS) once the 
development has entered the development/construction phase, which is added to the 
recommendation as a condition.

Other Matters 

It is noted that many of the objections received in respect of this application have raised 
concerns relating to the potential future occupier of the site and buildings, however this is not 
relevant to the determination of this planning application. The site has a long established 
industrial use and therefore a wide variety of companies could operate from this building 
without the need for planning permission. Any future occupier would have a duty to adhere to 
all legislation relative to its activities.  The Council’s Environmental Health Department have 
commented that the chemicals industry is regulated by a number of regulatory bodies 
including the Environment Agency, the Health and Safety Executive, Fire Authorities and Local 
Authorities, and these would all be notified should any company seek to store chemicals on 
this site. 

Therefore, this application can only be determined in line with what has actually been applied 
for, and not in relation to what could potentially happen in the future with regard to the use of 
the building, particularly given any future use may not require planning permission.  

A number of objectors have also made reference to the unauthorised storage 
containers/cabins at the southern end of the application site, close to the boundary with the 
terraced houses on Smalley Street. Whilst it is recognised that these containers are 
unauthorised, the application under consideration relates only to the proposed increase in the 
height of the building.  The containers are an entirely separate matter and are not a material 
consideration in the determination of this application. 

Conclusion

This application seeks permission to re-clad and increase the height of the existing building 
and many of the issues raised by the objectors, in particular the future use of the site or 
potential future occupier, are not relevant to the determination of this planning application. The 
application must be determined on its merits.

With the above in mind, the re-cladding of the building and increase in its height are 
considered to be acceptable within this mixed employment zone, on a site that has a long 
established industrial use. The proposal would not have any undue impact upon nearby 
residents given that the application building is sited more than 100m from the nearest 
residential property, and would share an acceptable relationship with surrounding commercial 
units.  Furthermore, the proposal would not result in a significant intensification of use beyond 
what could be reinstated at this site without planning permission. The Highway Officer has 
raised no objection to the application on Highway Safety grounds. 

In summary, the proposal complies with UDP policies EC/2, A/7, A/8, A/9, A/10, BE/2, BE/17 
and EM/3 and the NPPF is clear that proposals that comply with the development plan should 
be approved without delay.  This proposal would also assist in modernising an existing 
established business premises, would bring a vacant building back into use and would deliver 
sustainable economic growth, in order to create jobs and prosperity in accordance with the 
NPPF.  It is therefore recommended that planning permission is granted.  



RECOMMENDATION

Granted subject to following conditions:-

 1 The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning 
with the date of this permission.

Reason: To comply with the requirements of section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004.

 2 This permission relates to the following plans:- 

- PPC106-001 (Site Location Plan)
- PPC106-003 (Proposed Site Plan)
- PPC106_05 (Proposed Elevations)

and the development shall be carried out in complete accordance with these drawings 
hereby approved.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of 
development in accordance with the policies contained within the adopted Rochdale 
Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.

 3 Notwithstanding any description of materials in the application no above ground works 
shall take place until samples or full details of all materials to be used on the external 
surfaces of the building have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Such details shall include the type, colour and texture of the 
materials. Only the materials so approved shall be used, in accordance with any terms of 
such approval.

Reason: In order to ensure a sympathetic relationship with the character of surrounding 
buildings and the street scene in the interests of visual amenity in accordance with the 
requirements of Unitary Development Plan Policy BE/2.

 4 No development shall take place until a Risk Assessment and Method Statement 
(RAMS) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
and Network Rail. The Risk Assessment and Method Statement shall consider all works 
being undertaken within 10m of the operational railway. The development shall be 
implemented in full accordance with the approved details.  

Reason: In order to protect the adjacent railway line in accordance with UDP Policy A/2.



Reason for pre-commencement condition: To ensure appropriate assessment of the risk 
of construction activity takes place prior to commencement and any mitigation is 
employed throughout the construction period. 

Report Author Robert Major

________________________________________________



Application Number: 15/00918/WTTPO    Ward: Norden      

Proposal: Application to fell 3 beech and 3 sycamore trees and crown lift and thin 1 
sycamore tree within group W23 of Tree Preservation Order No.010 (Heywood MB 
No.1)

Site Address: Bamford Hall Lodge 341 Bury And Rochdale Old Road Heywood OL10 
4BB 

Applicant: Mr John Fearon
                  

RECOMMENDATION: Granted subject to conditions

DELEGATION SCHEME

This application seeks consent to fell three Beech trees, fell three Sycamore trees and crown 
lift and thin one Sycamore tree within group W34 of Tree Preservation Order (“TPO”) No. 010. 
Members may grant unconditional or conditional consent or may refuse the application for 
consent.



DESCRIPTION OF SITE AND PROPOSAL

The application relates to a group of three Beech trees and four Sycamore trees located in the 
side and rear garden of Bamford Hall Lodge in Heywood, located at 341 Bury and Rochdale 
Old Road. The trees are located in the south west corner of the group W34 designated under 
TPO No. 010 and lie to the north of the application dwelling. The trees are part of a group of 
trees described as a plantation of mixed hardwoods consisting largely of Sycamore with some 
Beech and a few Elm, Ash, Lime, Horse Chestnut and Birch.

Following amendments to the original application, come about through discussion with the 
Council’s Green Infrastructure Officer, the applicant proposes to fell the three Beech trees due 
to wounds on the main stem from a previous fire and the presence of fruiting bodies. Three 
Sycamore trees would be felled due to their poor form and injuries to the trunks and the final 
Sycamore crown lifted and thinned to allow the tree to grow appropriately following the 
removal of the surrounding trees.

RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY

National Guidance

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

The government published its NPPG on 6 March 2014. This is intended to complement the 
NPPF and to provide a single resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and 
streamlining the material. Almost all previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been 
cancelled. Specific reference will be made to the NPPG or other national advice in the 
Analysis section of the report, where appropriate.

CONSULTATION RESPONSES

Green Infrastructure Officer – No objection. The three Beech trees all have significant areas 
of rot within the lower trunks and their position on the steep banking above the road is of 
concern. The three Sycamores proposed for removal all have significant structural defects and 
old injuries. Their removal will allow the other Sycamore in the group (identified on the 
submitted map as T1) to flourish.

No objection to the proposal to crown lift and thin T1, it is currently a healthy specimen and 
this work will improve its shape, further improving the visual amenity of this tree, providing no 
more than 25% of the canopy is removed and the works are carried out to BS3998:2010 – 
Tree Work Recommendation Standards.

ANALYSIS

In considering applications for works to protected trees, Government advice in paragraph 90 of 
the NPPG states:
“When considering an application the authority is advised to:

 assess the amenity value of the tree or woodland and the likely impact of the proposal 
on the amenity of the area;

 consider, in the light of this assessment, whether or not the proposal is justified, having 
regard to the reasons and additional information put forward in support of it;

 consider whether any loss or damage is likely to arise if consent is refused or granted 
subject to conditions;

 consider whether any requirements apply in regard to protected species;

http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/tree-preservation-orders/tree-preservation-orders-general/#paragraph_008
http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/tree-preservation-orders/compensating-for-loss-or-damage/#paragraph_112


 consider other material considerations, including development plan policies where 
relevant; and

 ensure that appropriate expertise informs its decision.”

In considering whether there has to be an arboricultural need for proposed works to a TPO, 
paragraph 91 of the NPPG states:

“In general terms, it follows that the higher the amenity value of the tree or woodland and the 
greater any negative impact of proposed works on amenity, the stronger the reasons needed 
before consent is granted. However, if the amenity value is lower and the impact is likely to be 
negligible, it may be appropriate to grant consent even if the authority believes there is no 
particular arboricultural need for the work.”

With regard to the above, the main considerations in respect of this application are whether 
the proposal for the felling of the trees is justified in light of the assessment of the amenity 
value of the trees and whether the reasons for works are of sufficient standing to warrant the 
granting of consent for felling.  

To assess the acceptability of the application proposal against the above considerations, 
consultation has been carried out with the Council’s Green Infrastructure Officer, who has, 
following amendments to the proposal, confirmed that she has no objection. It is considered 
that the damage and wounds to the trees have resulted in significant rot, diminishing the 
amenity value of the trees to be felled and the three Beech trees represent a potential safety 
risk to users of the road beneath the bank on which the trees are situated.

The proposal to crown lift and thin tree T1 (the final Sycamore) is considered as acceptable in 
order to improve the shape of the tree, increase its visual amenity within the Tree Preservation 
Order, and ensure that the tree grows in an appropriate manner following the removal of the 
surrounding specimens.

In summary, the Council’s Green Infrastructure Officer is of the opinion that the proposed 
felling of the trees for the reasons provided by the applicant is justified and that the proposed 
felling and works to trees would not have a significant adverse impact on the visual amenity 
provided by the Tree Preservation Order.  

The proposal to fell the trees and carry out works to the final Sycamore is therefore considered 
to be compliant with the guidance contained within the NPPG and the application is 
recommended for approval. 

In respect of any impact on protected species, the Greater Manchester Ecology Unit’s 
standing advice on ensuring the protection of protected species when carrying out works to 
trees will be appended to the decision notice.

RECOMMENDATION

GRANT subject to standard conditions and the following additional conditions:-

 1 Not more than 25% of the canopy shall be removed of the tree T1 (Sycamore) to be 
crown lifted and thinned

 2 Works to crown lift and thin tree T1 (Sycamore) must be carried out to BS3998:2010 - 
Tree Work Recommendations standards.

Report Author David Allen



_____________________________________________
Application Number: 15/00936/WTTPO    Ward: Bamford      

Proposal: Application to fell one Sycamore tree subject to Tree Preservation Order No. 
026 (Brooklands Court)

Site Address: 9 Brooklands Court Rochdale OL11 4EJ  

Applicant: Mr Daniel Dempsey
                  

RECOMMENDATION: Refuse

DELEGATION SCHEME

This application seeks consent to fell one Sycamore tree subject to Tree Preservation Order 
(“TPO”) No. 026 (Brooklands Court). Members may grant unconditional or conditional consent 
or may refuse the application for consent.

DESCRIPTION OF SITE AND PROPOSAL

The application relates to a single Sycamore tree located in the private rear garden of 9 
Brooklands Court. The tree is located to the north east of the application dwelling, 



approximately 13.5m from the rear elevation, and is set into a steeply banked section of 
garden covered by gravel and held by a brick retaining wall. 

The applicant proposes to fell the Sycamore tree as he claims it poses a safety risk to both the 
application property and neighbouring dwellings during periods of high wind speeds and the 
applicant has spotted movement around the base of the tree.

Since the estate was built there have been a number of applications from residents at 
Brooklands Court for works to trees subject of TPO26 and TPO26B. Where these have 
proposed felling of the trees all the applications have been refused or in one case withdrawn. 
Where works only (i.e. pruning) has been proposed, applications have been approved.

RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY

National Guidance

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

The government published its NPPG on 6 March 2014. This is intended to complement the 
NPPF and to provide a single resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and 
streamlining the material. Almost all previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been 
cancelled. Specific reference will be made to the NPPG or other national advice in the 
Analysis section of the report, where appropriate.

CONSULTATION RESPONSES

Green Infrastructure Officer – Objects. There are no signs of disease or damage to the tree 
and it is not showing significant signs of stress. There are no signs of cracking or instability in 
the ground around the base of the tree. No evidence or diagnostic advice of disease or 
damage to the tree has been submitted with the application to support the statements made in 
section 7 of the application form. There would not have been an objection to a proposal to 
remove the young branch growth up to main crown height.

ANALYSIS

In considering applications for works to protected trees, Government advice in paragraph 90 of 
the NPPG states:
“When considering an application the authority is advised to:

 assess the amenity value of the tree or woodland and the likely impact of the proposal 
on the amenity of the area;

 consider, in the light of this assessment, whether or not the proposal is justified, having 
regard to the reasons and additional information put forward in support of it;

 consider whether any loss or damage is likely to arise if consent is refused or granted 
subject to conditions;

 consider whether any requirements apply in regard to protected species;
 consider other material considerations, including development plan policies where 

relevant; and
 ensure that appropriate expertise informs its decision.”

In considering whether there has to be an arboricultural need for proposed works to a TPO, 
paragraph 91 of the NPPG states:

“In general terms, it follows that the higher the amenity value of the tree or woodland and the 
greater any negative impact of proposed works on amenity, the stronger the reasons needed 
before consent is granted. However, if the amenity value is lower and the impact is likely to be 

http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/tree-preservation-orders/tree-preservation-orders-general/#paragraph_008
http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/tree-preservation-orders/compensating-for-loss-or-damage/#paragraph_112


negligible, it may be appropriate to grant consent even if the authority believes there is no 
particular arboricultural need for the work.”

With regard to the above, the main considerations in respect of this application are whether 
the proposal for the felling of the trees is justified in light of the assessment of the amenity 
value of the trees and whether the reasons for works are of sufficient standing to warrant the 
granting of consent for felling.  

To assess the acceptability of the application proposal against the above considerations, 
consultation has been carried out with the Council’s Green Infrastructure Officer, who has 
objected to the proposal. 

The tree shows no signs of disease or damage and no independent evidence has been 
submitted with the application to the contrary. The tree is not showing significant signs of 
stress and there are no signs of cracking or instability in the ground surrounding the base of 
the tree, conflicting with claims that the tree is suffering from movement at ground level. The 
tree is highly visible from the public highway and contributes significantly to the amenity of the 
area through its character and the street scene of Brooklands Court.

In summary, the Council’s Green Infrastructure Officer is of the opinion that the proposed 
felling of the tree for the reasons provided by the applicant would not justify the removal of a 
mature specimen.  The proposed felling of the tree would have a significant adverse impact on 
the character and visual amenity of the area and the street scene.  

The proposal to fell the tree is therefore considered to be contrary to the guidance contained 
within the NPPG and the application is recommended for refusal. 

RECOMMENDATION

REFUSE for the following reason:-

1. The Sycamore tree subject to Tree Preservation Order 026 and located in the rear 
garden of 9 Brooklands Court is an attractive, mature specimen that contributes 
significant amenity value to the street scene and the character of the area. The 
application tree does not appear to be diseased or in ill health and no independent 
evidence has been submitted to show that the tree is suffering from movement and 
instability. As such there is no valid reason to fell the tree at this time. To give consent 
for this tree to be felled would set a precedent for other similar and attractive trees in the 
area to be felled to the detriment of the character and appearance of the street scene 
and the area generally.

Report Author David Allen

 ________________________________________________



Application Number: 15/01035/WTTPO    Ward: Bamford      

Proposal: Application for felling of Ash tree (T8) and Ash Tree (G1) within Tree 
Preservation Order 046

Site Address: 21 Norwich Avenue Rochdale OL11 5JZ  

Applicant: Mr Mark Bower
                  

RECOMMENDATION: Granted subject to conditions

DELEGATION SCHEME

This application seeks consent to fell Ash tree (T8) and Ash tree (of group G1), both within 
Tree Preservation Order (“TPO”) 046. Members may grant unconditional or conditional 
consent or may refuse the application for consent.

DESCRIPTION OF SITE AND PROPOSAL

The application relates to two mature Ash trees located in the private rear garden of 21 
Norwich Avenue, accessed in turn from Bury Road. The trees are located in the north west 
corner of the garden and lie approximately 14-17m from the application dwelling. The first Ash 
tree (T8) stands separately from the adjacent G1 group and is situated on the border with 26 
Moorgate Avenue. The second Ash tree is within group G1, on the boundary with 28 Moorgate 
Avenue.



The applicant proposes to fell and stump grind both Ash trees for safety reasons. As they have 
outlined within the application, this is due to both trees having recently shed large branches in 
a short space of time and as other branches have visibly split and are expected to fall in the 
near future. 

With regard to planting replacement, the applicant intends to supplant the Ash trees with fruit 
trees as appropriate for a domestic garden, so as to avoid the replacement with other large 
trees. 

RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY

National Guidance

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

The government published its NPPG on 6 March 2014. This is intended to complement the 
NPPF and to provide a single resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and 
streamlining the material. Almost all previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been 
cancelled. Specific reference will be made to the NPPG or other national advice in the 
Analysis section of the report, where appropriate.

CONSULTATION RESPONSES

Green Infrastructure Officer – 

No objection to the removal of the two Ash trees. They have both dropped significant and 
apparently healthy branches within the last two months. There was no evidence of a particular 
disease when visually inspected in July and August, although both have thinning crowns. The 
proximity of the trees to the house and the neighbouring garden play area is of concern. These 
particular trees are visible only from the immediately adjacent houses and their loss will not 
significantly reduce the visual amenity of the TPO.

No objection to the applicant’s suggestion of fruit trees as replacements, though it would be 
advisable to plant the replacements at least 3m away from the Ash tree stumps because of the 
possibility of the replacement trees becoming infected by whatever pathogen has caused 
problems for the ash trees.

Other suggestions for replacement trees:

- Betula utilis Long Trunk (Weeping Himalayan Birch), approximately 7m high
- Amelanchier arboreal Robin Hill (Juneberry, Serviceberry), approximately 7m high

ANALYSIS

In considering applications for works to protected trees, Government advice in paragraph 90 of 
the NPPG states:
“When considering an application the authority is advised to:
 assess the amenity value of the tree or woodland and the likely impact of the proposal on 

the amenity of the area;
 consider, in the light of this assessment, whether or not the proposal is justified, having 

regard to the reasons and additional information put forward in support of it;
 consider whether any loss or damage is likely to arise if consent is refused or granted 

subject to conditions;
 consider whether any requirements apply in regard to protected species;
 consider other material considerations, including development plan policies where 

http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/tree-preservation-orders/tree-preservation-orders-general/%22%20/l%20%22paragraph_008
http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/tree-preservation-orders/compensating-for-loss-or-damage/%22%20/l%20%22paragraph_112


relevant; and
 ensure that appropriate expertise informs its decision.”
 
In considering whether there has to be an arboricultural need for proposed works to a TPO, 
paragraph 91 of the NPPG states:

“In general terms, it follows that the higher the amenity value of the tree or woodland and the 
greater any negative impact of proposed works on amenity, the stronger the reasons needed 
before consent is granted. However, if the amenity value is lower and the impact is likely to be 
negligible, it may be appropriate to grant consent even if the authority believes there is no 
particular arboricultural need for the work.”

With regard to the above, the main considerations in respect of this application are whether 
the proposal for the felling of the tree is justified in light of the assessment of the amenity value 
of the tree and whether the reasons for works are of sufficient standing to warrant the granting 
of consent for felling.  

To assess the acceptability of the application proposal against the above considerations, 
consultation has been carried out with the Council’s Green Infrastructure Officer, who has no 
objections to the proposal.   

In summary, the Council’s Green Infrastructure Officer is of the opinion that the proposed 
felling of both Ash trees would not reduce the amenity of the Tree Preservation Order group 
and that the trees currently present a potential risk to the safety of the occupants of the 
application dwelling, and the neighbours in close proximity, due to the recent falling branches. 
As such, the need for works is considered to outweigh the potential harm to visual amenity 
that would arise from the felling of the tree.

Any potential impact on protected species is covered by the inclusion of Greater Manchester 
Ecology Unit’s standing advice for protection of protected species when carrying out works to 
trees, which would be appended to the decision notice.

The application proposal is therefore considered to be compliant with the guidance contained 
within the NPPG and noted above, and the application is recommended for approval. 

RECOMMENDATION

GRANT subject to standard conditions and the following additional condition:-

1 Within the first planting season following the felling of the two Ash trees hereby 
approved, two replacement trees consisting of either Betula utilis Long Trunk (Weeping 
Himalayan Birch) or Amelanchier arborea Robin Hill (Juneberry, Serviceberry), both 
approximately 7m in height, shall be planted within the garden area of 21 Norwich 
Avenue a minimum distance of three metres from the stumps of the hereby approved 
felled trees. If either of the replacement trees are removed, die, become severely 
damaged or seriously diseased within three years of planting, they shall be replaced by 
a tree of similar size and species.

Reason: In order to protect the visual amenity of the area.

Report Author David Allen



 _______________________________________________

Subject: Proposed Tree Preservation Order: 
Crimble Street, Rochdale

Status:  Publication

Report to: Rochdale Township Planning Sub 
Committee

Cabinet Member: Councillor Neil Emmott

Date: 29th September 2015
 

Report of: Director of Economy 

Author Email:    daniela.ripa@rochdale.gov.uk

Author: Daniela Ripa 

Tel: Tel: 01706 924342

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 

1.1 To seek the consent of the Rochdale Township Planning Sub Committee to make a 
Tree Preservation Order in accordance with Part 4 of the Council’s Scheme of 
Delegation (Tree Preservation Orders).  The Committee has delegated authority to 
make, amend, revoke and confirm Tree Preservation Orders.  

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1    That the Committee authorise the making of a Tree Preservation Order in respect of an 
oak tree on land adjacent to 1 Crimble Street, Rochdale. 

2.2 That the Committee authorise the confirmation of the Tree Preservation Order in the 
event that no objections are received following statutory notification to take place once 
the Order is made.  

2.3 That in the event objections are received to the Tree Preservation Order that the Order 
is brought back before the Committee for confirmation.

3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 

3.1 The oak tree is a veteran tree with considerable biodiversity value and makes a 
significant contribution to the visual amenity of Crimble Street.  A veteran tree is 
defined by Natural England as a tree that is of interest biologically, culturally or 
aesthetically because of its age, size or condition.  Veteran trees may also be of 
historic interest and are especially important for biological reasons, providing 
conditions suitable for a wide range of other plants and animals, many of which require 
the very special environment created in an old tree.

3.2 The Council has received a planning application for the development of the land 
immediately adjacent to the tree and the tree overhangs this land, which may result in 
root and canopy damage leading to the loss of the tree.  



3.3 The National Planning Policy Framework identifies that ancient woodland and aged or 
veteran trees comprise irreplaceable habitats, the loss or deterioration of which should 
be avoided.  

4.         BACKGROUND

4.1 The veteran oak tree is on Council land within an area of informal open space, which 
extends from the northern side of College Road to the southern side of Primrose Street 
and on the south western side of Crimble Street in Rochdale.  The tree is the 
northernmost of a group sited on the embankment of College Road and is separated 
from the group by a path.  

4.2 The tree overhangs a parcel of land to the north that was formerly in the Council’s 
ownership and comprised a former garage site, which is currently hardsurfaced.  In 
September 2014, the Head of Planning authorised the making of an emergency TPO 
to secure the future retention of the tree.  Since the sale of the land, the Council has 
subsequently received a planning application for the erection of one detached dwelling 
on the former garage site (application reference 14/01021/FUL). 

4.3 The Council’s Green Infrastructure Development Officer has inspected the tree and it 
scored highly against the ‘Tree Evaluation Method for Preservation Orders’ (TEMPO) 
criteria.  A score above 16 out of a possible score of 25 definitely merits a TPO under 
the assessment criteria and the tree in question scored 19. The tree scored the highest 
possible score under two of the four assessment criteria and has been identified as a 
veteran tree.  At the time of the TEMPO assessment, there was a perceived threat to 
the tree owing to the fact that a planning application had been submitted.  The planning 
application is recommended for approval, which increases the threat to the tree and 
would lead to a higher score if the TEMPO assessment was revisited.  

4.3 Once a Tree Preservation Order is made, the Council would notify adjoining land 
owners and has six months in which to confirm the Order with or without modification.  
If representations are received following the statutory notification, a subsequent report 
will be brought before the Rochdale Township Planning Sub Committtee for 
consideration.  

5. SUMMARY

5.1 The oak tree is a veteran tree of significant amenity and biodiversity value and it is 
expedient in the interests of amenity and biodiversity to place this tree under a Tree 
Preservation Order.  


	Agenda
	1 Declarations of Interest
	Summary OF interests

	2 Submitted Planning Applications

